### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-5-2013

# Clearwater REI, LLC v. Boling Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40809

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of conduct involving the purchase and performance of the 2008 Note Program "Note Program," with Defendant/Counter-Claimant/Appellant Mark Boling ("Boling") by individuals employees and affiliated business entities related to Clearwater Real Estate Investments aka Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC.

On February 15, 2012, out of abundance of caution, Boling filed a Demand for Commercial Arbitration with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") against all named Counterdefendants and Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC ("Company") and served said parties therewith regarding the acts and omissions set forth herein under the arbitration clause in the Subscription Agreement. [Clerk's Record on Appeal ("R") 302, ¶ 33]

On March 8, 2012, Counterdefendants filed with the AAA and served their Answer Statement objecting to arbitrate the disputes set forth in Boling's counterclaim and third party complaint on behalf of all named Counterdefendants, but not the Company. [R 302, ¶ 34]

On May 14, 2011, Counterdefendants filed their initial complaint in this action. [R 005-020] All Counterdefendants/Respondents have challenged Boling's AAA demand to arbitrate his claims against all non-signatory Counterdefendants under the Subscription Agreement.

5

On June 28, 2012 Boling filed his Answer to Complaint and Counterclaim seeking monetary and/or equitable relief in his counterclaim alleging, inter alia, 1) violations of the Idaho Consumer Protection Act [*Idaho Code* ("I.C.") §§ 48-601 – 48-619 ("ICPA")] against all Counterdefendants, and each of them, and 3) Breach of Guaranty against the Counterdefendant Clearwater REI, LLC. [R 021-223]

On August 17, 2012, Counterdefendants filed a Motion to Stay Arbitration in this case and denied the existence of the agreement to arbitrate. [R 224-226]

On October 16, 2012, the district court rejected Boling's declaration and issued its Decision and Order Re: Motion to Stay Arbitration [R 278-279], stating, inter alia, "The Court notes that the relief sought by the plaintiffs is a determination that they are not subject to the requirement to arbitrate contained in the Subscription Agreement - if their position is correct, that hardly gives a basis for them to evade any direct liability they may have for consumer protection violations on the record as it currently exists, at a minimum, the Court could not address the merits of the claim on this record. \* \* \* Until or unless additional evidence is presented to the Court as provided for by I.R.C.P. 43(e) that would warrant any other conclusion, the only parties which are required to arbitrate are Clearwater 2008 Note Program LLC and Mark Boling." (bold and underline added)

On December 10, 2012, Boling filed a new and separate Motion to Compel Arbitration. [R 507-538]

On February 7, 2013, the district court issued its Second Decision and Order Re:

Motion to Stay Arbitration and **54(b) Certificate**. [R 575-577]

On March 11, 2013, Boling filed this appeal to the district court's February 7, 2013 ruling as a matter of right under I.A.R. 11 (a) (3) ("Judgments made pursuant to a partial judgment certified by the trial court to be final as provided by Rule 54(b), I.R.C.P."). [R 578-581]

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>1</sup>

## A. Private Placement Memorandum, Supplements One and Two Thereto and Guaranty

On or about February 4, 2010, Boling received an initial package from Rob Ruebel, Regional Vice-President of Sales of Clearwater Real Estate Investments ("Clearwater") <sup>2</sup> consisting of A) a bound Confidential Private Placement Memorandum Book # 08Note-A238 dated August 29, 2008 with the letterhead of Clearwater [R 296, ¶ 5 Exhs. 1-3, R 309-364], which included, inter alia, the Private Placement Memorandum ("PPM"), a Guaranty, and Supplements One and Two to the PPM, and B) a cover letter with the letterhead of Clearwater dated February 1, 2010 and miscellaneous sheets about Clearwater [R 365-372 collectively, Exh. 4]. Boling did not

The statement of facts and all exhibits identified or referenced in this document are taken from Boling's affidavit (R 295-506 "Boling Affdvt.").

The cover letter and business card of Mr. Ruebel [R 366] identifies Clearwater Real Estate Investments as the business entity <u>providing</u> the initial package. Consulting agreements for RE Capital Investments, LLC and others are made with Clearwater Real Estate Investments, but is executed by the business entity, Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC. [R 305-306, Boling Affdvt., ¶ 49 (c)] However, Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC <u>didn't even exist</u> as business entity in Idaho <u>until</u> 7/24/12. [R 302, 306, Boling Affdvt., ¶¶ 32, 50; R 471-472, R 505-506, Exhs 20 & 27]

receive a copy of the Note dated August 29, 2008, the Third Supplement to the PPM dated January 20, 2010, or the 2009 Year-End Update dated March 19, 2010 until <u>after</u> the submission and acceptance of his Subscription Agreement, *infra*.

#### The **PPM** sets forth the following:

Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company, was organized to offer up to \$20,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 9.0% Notes due December 31, 2015. The Company will use the proceeds from the offering of the Notes to provide secured financing for real estate acquisition and development projects undertaken by Clearwater REI, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company, its Affiliates and other borrowers who satisfy the lending criteria established by the Company. \* \* \* All loans made by the Company will be collateralized by a first position mortgage or deed of trust, as the case may be. [R 310-311, PPM, Introduction.]

Noteholders may elect, from time to time, to (a) receive monthly distributions of simple interest at the annual rate of 9.0%, or (b) re-invest accrued interest at a compounded annual interest rate of 9.0%. [R 310-311, PPM, Introduction.]

The mailing address of the Company is c/o Clearwater REI, LLC, 1300 E. State Street, Suite 103, Eagle, Idaho 83616. [R 312, PPM, Introduction.]

If, after carefully reading the entire Memorandum, obtaining any other information available and being fully satisfied with the results of pre-investment due diligence activities, a prospective Noteholder would like to purchase Notes, a prospective Noteholder should complete and sign the attached Subscription Agreement. The full purchase price for the Notes must be paid by check upon submission of the Subscription Agreement for the Notes. [R 316, PPM, p. 3.]

<u>Interest</u>: Noteholders may elect to receive monthly interest payments in an amount equal to 9.0% simple interest on their principal investment. All distributions will paid in arrears on the fifteenth day of each month, beginning with the month following the month in which the Notes are issued. [C 332, PPM, p. 19.]

Interest Reinvestment Program (IRP): By giving written notice to the Company of their desire to do so not later than November 30, Noteholders may elect to have their interest reinvested and compounded monthly beginning on the first day of the year immediately following the date on which such notice was received by the Company. Reinvested interest will be compounded at the annual rate of 9.0%. Interest that is reinvested will

be added to and considered part of the principal amount of the Note at the end of each calendar month. [R 332, PPM, p. 19.]

<u>Liquidity</u>: Beginning December 31, 2010 and once annually thereafter, Notes representing up to 10% of the original principal amount may be called by the Noteholders upon not less than 90 days written notice to the Company. [R 332-333, PPM, pp. 19-20.]

Guaranty: The Notes will be obligations of the Company the principal of which will be guaranteed by RE Capital Investments, LLC [R 333, PPM, p. 20.] The Guaranty is attached to the PPM as Exhibit D [R 354].

Annual Report: Within 120 days after the end of each calendar year, the Company will send to each Noteholder of record during the previous year: (a) an audited balance sheet for the Company as of the end of such fiscal year and (b) an audited statement of the Company's earnings for such fiscal year, along with a year-end status report. [R 337, PPM, p. 24.]

#### Definitions:

"Company" means Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company. [R 338, PPM, p. 25.]

"Manager" refers to Clearwater REI, LLC. The Manager is sole owner and the initial manager of the Company. [R 339, PPM, p. 26.]

"Noteholders" means purchasers of Notes. [R 339, PPM, p. 26.]

"Notes" means the \$20,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 9.0% notes due December 31, 2015, subject to increase to \$40,000,000 at the sole discretion of the Company, which will be obligations of the Company the principal of which will be guaranteed by RE Capital Investments, LLC; however, the Notes will not be secured by collateral. [R 339, PPM, p. 26.]

"Event of Default" refers to the occurrence of any of the following: (a) failure to pay the principal on the Notes when due at maturity, or upon any earlier due date, or upon mandatory redemption at the option of Noteholder, (b) failure to pay any interest on the Notes for ten days after notice of such default to the Company; (c) failure to perform any other covenant for ten days after receipt of written notice specifying the default and requiring the Company to remedy such default; or (c) events of insolvency, receivership, conservatorship or reorganization of the Company. [R 339, PPM, p. 26.] (Emphasis added.)

Guarantor's Balance Sheet dated July 31, 2008 [R 351-353] – attached Exhibit C to the PPM.

<u>Guaranty</u> dated July 31, 2008 [R 354] – attached Exhibit D to the PPM, which was signed on behalf of the Guarantor, RE Capital Investments, LLC, by its managing member, Diamond B Asset Management.

The Guaranty states, inter alia:

"In order to induce each prospective purchaser (each a "Noteholder" and collectively the "Noteholders") of 9% Notes due on December 31, 2015 (each a "Note" and collectively the "Notes) issued by Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC (the "Company") to purchase the Notes, the Guarantor hereby unconditionally guarantees the payment of the original principal amount of the Notes as provided therein. This Guaranty shall remain in full force throughout the terms of the Notes."

"Guarantor hereby waives notice of acceptance of this Guaranty and all other notices in connection herewith or in connection with the liabilities, obligations and duties guaranteed hereby, including notices to them of default by the Company under the Notes."

"The Guarantor's net worth will at all times during the term of the Guaranty be maintained at \$54,000.000 subject to increase in pro rata up to \$78,000,000 if the Company increases the offering of the Notes."

"Guarantor further agrees, to the extent permitted by law, to pay any costs or expenses, including the reasonable fees of an attorney, incurred by the Noteholders in enforcing this Guaranty."

#### First Supplement to PPM dated October 3, 2008 [R 360-364]:

Peter Cooper, Senior Vice-President of Sales will assume the role of Director of Sales and Broker Dealer Relations for Clearwater REI, LLC. Don Steeves, former National Sales Director and Director of Broker Relations, concluded his employment with Clearwater REI, LLC. [R 361, 1<sup>st</sup> Suppl., p. 2.]

The four member Investment Committee now consists of current principal members of Clearwater REI, LLC, namely: Ron Meyer, Chris Benak, Bart Cochran and Chad Hansen. No loan will be made by the Company without the prior approval of the Investment Committee. [R 362, 1<sup>st</sup> Suppl., p. 3.]

#### **Second Supplement to PPM** dated June 30, 2009 [R 356-359]:

The **RELATIONSHIP** of the **Company** (Clearwater 2008 Note Program,

LLC), the **Manager** (Clearwater REI, LLC) and the **Guarantor** (RE Capital Investments, LLC) to each other, and their respective owners, is as follows [R 357, 2<sup>nd</sup> Suppl., p.2]:

- RE Capital Investments, LLC owns 55.84% of Clearwater (Real Estate Investments).
- Ronald D. Meyer owns 100% of Terron Investments, Inc., which owns 50 % of RE Capital Investments, LLC.
- Christopher J. Benak owns 100% of Diamond B Asset

  Management, Inc., which owns the other 50% of RE Capital Investments, LLC.
- O Barton Cole Cochran 100% of Leap, Inc. which owns 19.58% of Clearwater.
- O Chad James Hansen owns 100% of Green Jackets Investments, Inc., which owns 19.58% of Clearwater.

Bart Cochran, who was formerly the Company's Vice-President of Acquisitions & Operations, is now the Company's President. Chad Hansen, who was formerly the Company's Vice-President of Finance, is now the Company's Chief Financial Officer. [R 357, 2<sup>nd</sup> Suppl., p.2]

Guarantor's Balance Sheet dated December 31, 2008 [R 358-359] – attached as Exhibit A to the 2<sup>nd</sup> Suppl.

After receiving the initial package from Clearwater, Boling viewed and relied upon Clearwater's website at <a href="www.clearwaterrei.com">www.clearwaterrei.com</a> that was disclosed on the

letterhead from the initial package. The website disclosed that the business entity known as Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC owned or operated the website and implied by its content of ownership that Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC was a viable business entity authorized to do business in the state of Idaho. Boling was unable to access the web pages on Clearwater's website for investors because he was not as yet an investor. [R 296,  $\P$  6]

#### B. Subscription Agreement

On February 12, 2010, Boling executed and submitted a Subscription Agreement ("SA") [R 373-379, Exh. 5], and Boling paid the sum of \$50,000 pursuant thereto as his personal investment in the Company's Note Program without having previously received a copy of the Note. [R 296, ¶ 7]

At the time of submitting Boling's executed SA and \$50,000 payment, Counterdefendants or their agents or principals had not disclose to Boling that a) Clearwater and Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC did not exist as business entities authorized to do business in the state of Idaho, b) RE Capital Investments, LLC ("Guarantor") had a 55.84% membership interest and 50% voting interest in Clearwater REI, LLC ("Manager"), and c) the Guarantor had a consulting agreement with Clearwater aka Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC for \$8,500.00 per month. [R 297, ¶ 9]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Clearwater Real Estate Investments, LLC didn't exist as business entity in Idaho <u>until</u> 7/24/12. [R 302, 306, Boling Affdvt., ¶¶ 32, 50; R 471-472, R 505-506, Exhs 20 & 27]

#### **Subscription Agreement:**

The SA is the offer and agreement of Boling to purchase \$50,000 in principal of 9% Notes to be issued by the Company subject to the terms, conditions, acknowledgments, representations and warranties stated herein and in the PPM, as supplemented from time to time. [R 375, SA, p.2.]

RE Capital, LLC agreed to guarantee the repayment of principal under the Notes. [R 376, SA, p.3., ¶1]

Pertinent portions of the SA are as follows:

"I acknowledge that I have received, read and fully understand the Memorandum. I acknowledge that I am basing my decision to invest in Notes on the Memorandum and I have relied only on the information contained in said materials and have not relied upon any representations made by any other person." [R 376, SA, p.3., ¶2] (underline added)

"I am purchasing Notes for my own account and for investment purposes only." [R 377, SA, p.4, ¶7.]

"This Subscription Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Idaho without regard to its choice of law provisions." [R 377, SA, p.4, ¶10.]

#### [ARBITRATION CLAUSE]

"[A]ny dispute, controversy or other claim arising under, out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or any amendment thereof, or the breach or interpretation hereof or thereof, shall be determined and settled in binding arbitration in Boise, Idaho, in accordance with applicable Idaho law, and with the rules and procedures of The American Arbitration Association. The prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of its reasonable costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, in addition to any other available remedies. Any award rendered therein shall be final and binding on each and all of the parties thereto and their personal representatives, and judgment may be entered thereon in any court of competent jurisdiction. BY EXECUTING THIS AGREEMENT, YOU ARE AGREEING TO HAVE ALL DISPUTES DECIDED BY NEUTRAL ARBITRATION, YOU ARE GIVING UP ANY RIGHTS YOU MIGHT POSSESS TO HAVE SUCH

DISPUTES LITIGATED IN A COURT OR JURY TRIAL, AND YOU ARE GIVING UP YOUR JUDICIAL RIGHTS TO DISCOVERY AND APPEAL. IF YOU REFUSE TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING TO THIS PROVISION, YOU MAY BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE. BY EXECUTING THIS AGREEMENT, YOU HEREBY CONFIRM THAT YOUR AGREEMENTS TO THIS ARBITRATION PROVISION IS VOLUNTARY." [R 377, SA, p.4, ¶11.]

"[T]his Subscription Agreement and the Memorandum, together with all attachments and exhibits thereto, constitute the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the sale of Notes and may be amended, modified or terminated only by a writing executed by all parties." [R 377, SA, p.4, ¶13.]

#### C. Acceptance of Subscription Agreement, Certificate and Note

On or about March 6, 2010, Boling received a cover letter with the letterhead of Clearwater dated March 1, 2010 [R 381], an Acceptance of the Subscription Agreement [R 379], a Certificate with an effective date of February 27, 2010 [R 383], and a Note dated August 29, 2008 [R 385-389] from Clearwater. [R 297, ¶10]

#### Acceptance of Subscription Agreement:

On February 26, 2010, Bart Cochran signed the acceptance of the SA, as the Manager for the Company.

#### **Certificate:**

Effective February 27, 2010, Certificate No 08-470 with Clearwater Real Estate Investments letterhead was signed by Bart Cochran as the Manager for the Company and issued to Boling.

#### Note:

A Note dated August 29, 2008 with the Company (Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC) as the maker, and which contained new interest accrual terms <u>not</u> set

forth in the PPM, was signed by Bart Cochran as the sole member for the Manager. No Exhibit A, listing the names of the Noteholders, including Boling, was attached or included with the Note that was delivered to Boling.

Pertinent portions of the Note are as follows:

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt, adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company ("Maker"), promises to pay to the parties listed on Exhibit A attached hereto (the "Noteholders"), the aggregate principal amount of Twenty Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$20,000,000) with the option to increase to Forty Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$40,000,000), together with interest, late charges, costs and expenses, and all other amounts described below in accordance with the following terms and provisions:

#### Section 1 Definitions.

"Memorandum" shall mean Maker's Confidential Private Placement Memorandum dated August 18, 2008, as amended or supplemented from time to time, relating to the offer and sale by the Maker of up to \$20,000,000 of Notes (subject to increase to \$40,000,000).

"Noteholder" shall mean any person or entity hereafter purchasing a Note in accordance with the Memorandum, subject to the provisions of the Transaction Documents applicable thereto, and any successor or assign thereof or entity acquiring an interest herein at any time.

"Transaction Documents" shall mean this Note, the Subscription Agreement and the Memorandum.

#### Section 2.1 Fixed Interest.

"Commencing on the date hereof and continuing until December 31, 2015, the outstanding principal hereunder shall bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 9%."

#### Section 3 Payments; Accrual.

"Commencing on the fifteenth day of the month next following the Funding Date and continuing on the fifteenth day of the month thereafter until the outstanding principal hereof is paid in full, Maker shall pay to, or accrue and compound for the benefit of, the Noteholders all unpaid Interest in an amount equal to the product of the principal amount hereunder and that fraction the numerator of which is the Noteholder's principal investment and the denominator of which is the principal amount hereunder. If not sooner paid, Maker shall pay the principal balance

hereof in full on the Maturity Date, together with all unpaid accrued interest. Maker shall make all payments of Interest, late charges, and principal to the Noteholders at their respective addresses on file with the Maker as of the day which is ten days prior to the due date of such payment, on or before the date when due, without notice, deduction or offset. All payments shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America." (bold added)

Section 5 Put Rights.

"Beginning December 31, 2010 and once annually thereafter, up to 10% of the original principal amount may be called by the Noteholders upon not less than 30 days written notice to the Maker."

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