UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-6-2013

Clearwater REI, LLC v. Boling Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40809

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

b. Boling has not established any facts that would characterize any of the counter-defendants as third-party beneficiaries.

The reason that the non-signatory counter-defendants are not asserting any rights under the agreement is that they are not third-party beneficiaries of the portions of the agreement at issue in this case. Under Idaho law, in order to establish that someone is a third-party beneficiary, the at-issue provision in the agreement must expressly reflect the intent to benefit the third-party. *Partout v. Harper*, 145 Idaho 683, 687, 183 P.3d 771, 775 (2008). "The third-party must show the contract was made primarily for his benefit; it is not sufficient that the third-party is a mere incidental beneficiary to the contract." *Id.* (citations omitted). "The intent to benefit the third-party must be expressed in the contract itself." *Id.* (citations omitted). An "indirect reference to a third-party does not make the third-party a beneficiary of the [contract]." *Rajagopalan v. Noteworld, LLC*, 2013 U.S. App. LEXIS 10055, *7 (9th Cir. May 20, 2013) (quoting *Tooley v. Stevenson Co-Ply, Inc.*, 106 Wn.2d 626, 724 P.2d 368, 371 (Wash. 1986) (applying Washington law regarding third-party beneficiaries)).

An express reference to a third-party beneficiary was found in the case of *Harris v.* Superior Court, where the at-issue arbitration provision expressly identified employees as thirdparty beneficiaries in that the arbitration clause specifically "requir[ed] arbitration of [patients]' claims against 'employees or other contracting health professional's' of [the medical group]." *Harris*, 188 Cal. App. 3d at 479.² There is nothing so bold in the arbitration provision before this Court today. Rather, the arbitration provision that Boling seeks to enforce against the nonsignatory counter-defendants does not make any direct or indirect reference to third-party beneficiaries. Accordingly, the non-signatory counter-defendants are not properly characterized as third-party beneficiaries of the agreement.

Boling's claims that the counter-defendants are third-party beneficiaries to the contract rest on the same factual allegations that make them agents of the Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC: i.e., indirect references that describe how the funds raised by Clearwater 2008 Note

² Accord Rath v. Managed Health Network, Inc., 123 Idaho 30, 30-31, 844 P.2d 12, 12 (1992) (holding that where the arbitration provision specifically referenced the parties to the agreement, non-signatory third-party beneficiary could not be forced to arbitrate against her will).

Program, LLC will be managed and used. Specifically, Boling cites to a provision of the PPM which establishes that certain persons and entities are paid: "The Company, the Manager and their Affiliates are entitled to receive certain significant fees and other significant compensation, payments, and reimbursements from the sale of the Notes." App. Br. at 33 n.13. Boling has not claimed that he invested in the Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC with the specific intent of providing benefits to the counter-defendants.Boling has not cited any authority for the proposition that receiving management fees, salaries, or other reimbursements gives rise to third-party beneficiary status.

Boling also cites to the PPM which states that "Most, if not all, of the loans to be made by the Company with the proceeds of this Offering will be made to Affiliates of the Company and the Manager." App. Br. at 33 n.13. Boling has not claimed that he made the investment with the intent to provide this type of benefit to the counter-defendants. Boling has not provided any authority for the proposition that the recipient of loans made by the Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC gives rise to third-party beneficiary status. Boling has also not provided any evidence that any of the non-signatory counter-defendants ever received loans made by the Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC. Under Idaho law, the theoretic possibility that one or more of the counter-defendants could have applied for and been given a loan from the Clearwater 2008 Note Program, LLC is insufficient to establish third-party beneficiary status.

As a final attempt to establish third-party beneficiary status, Boling notes that counter-defendant RE Capital, LLC (which is currently in bankruptcy) is the guarantor of the Notes. From that, Boling argues that RE Capital, LLC's members, counter-defendants Meyer and Benak, are third-party beneficiaries. Boling cites no authority to support the proposition that the guarantor of a Note is a third-party beneficiary of that Note, nor has he cited any authority for the more novel proposition that the owner/managers of a bankrupt guarantor are third-party beneficiaries of the underlying obligation.

In sum, Boling has failed to establish that any of the counter-defendants were third-party beneficiaries of the agreement. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court's order denying Boling's motion to compel arbitration on the grounds that none of the non-signatory counter-defendants are third-party beneficiaries.

3. Ordinary principles of contract law do not support the inextricably intertwined version of equitable estoppel advanced by Boling.

Boling's third basis for attempting to compel the non-signatory counter-defendants to arbitration is that "counterdefendants' actionable conduct is inextricably interwoven with the formation and performance of the entire agreement, making it equitable to compel the non-signatory Counter defendants to also be bound by the arbitration clause in the entire agreement." App. Br. at 29. Under ordinary principals of contract law, this is not a basis for enforcing a contract against a non-signatory to that contract. Rather, this loosely defined and seldom used theory grew up around the development of a "federal substantive law" of arbitration which was rejected by the United States Supreme Court in *Arthur Anderson v. Carlisle*.

Before it was rejected by the Supreme Court of the United States, the ill-defined concept of "inextricably interwoven" conduct giving rise to enforcing an arbitration agreement against a non-signatory counter-defendant was unsettled and met with healthy skepticism:

> While the Fifth Circuit has recognized concerted-misconduct estoppel, the theory is far from well-settled in the federal courts. Despite hundreds of federal appeals involving arbitration, it appears in only 10 reported opinions. In the two leading cases, *Grigson v. Creative Artists Agency L.L.C.* and *MS Dealer Service Corp. V. Franklin*, the Fifth and Eleventh Circuits held that both direct-benefits and concerted-misconduct estoppel were present, so it is unclear what the latter theory added to the result. Of the remainder, the theory was found inapplicable in 4 and it was not reached in 2 more. In only 2 cases did the result hinge on the

exception—and in those the Firth Circuit compelled arbitration in one and refused to do so in the other.

In Re. Merrill Lynch Trust Co., 235 S.W.3d at 192-93 (original emphasis omitted). The Texas court went on to note "Until the United States Supreme Court clarifies whether concerted-misconduct estoppel correctly reflects federal law, or even whether federal or state law governs the issue, today's decision must remain somewhat tentative." *Id.* at 195. In *Carlisle*, the Supreme Court of the United States spoke on the issue and held that there is no federal substantive law of arbitration and state contract law provides the correct rules of decision. *Carlisle*, 556 U.S. at 631-32.

At the district court, the non-signatory counter-defendants set forth the elements of equitable estoppel, as it applies under Idaho contract law, in support of their argument that they cannot be compelled to arbitrate against their will. R.000552. Anticipating that argument on this appeal, Boling argues that a different version of equitable estoppel applies when an arbitration clause is at issue. App. Br. at 38. In support of Boling's request to use an arbitration specific version of equitable estoppel, he claims that "In the context of Idaho arbitration law, equitable estoppel 'precludes a party from claiming the benefits of a contract while simultaneously attempting to avoid the burdens that contract imposes." App. Br. at 38 (citing *General Conference of the Evangelical Methodist Church v. New Heart Community Fellowship, Inc.*, 2012 WL 2916013 at *5 (D. Idaho 2012)). Boling failed to apprise this Court of the source of the authority upon which the Federal District Court relied in that opinion. Had he done so, this Court would have been advised that the Federal District Court did not rely on Idaho law, but rather relied on 5th Circuit law which was abrogated in *Carlisle*.

The following line of authority that Boling failed to explain or distinguish demonstrates that the state law rules of decision, which were advanced by counter-defendants at the district court, is the proper framework pursuant to which this Court should consider Boling's equitable estoppel claims. The *New Heart* case cited by Boling was quoting *Comer v. Micor, Inc.*, 436, F.3d 1098, 1100 (9th Cir. 2006) which, in turn, relied on a quote from *Wash. Mut. Fin. Group. LLC v. Bailey*, 364 F.3d 260, 267 (5th Cir. 2004). The opinion in *Bailey* made it clear that at the time of the decision the Fifth Circuit was using federal substantive law of arbitration for its rules of decision. *Id.* 267-68 and n.6.

Following the *Carlisle* decision, courts within the Fifth Circuit recognized that any federal substantive law of arbitration had been abrogated. *THI of N.M. at Hobbs Ctr., LLC v. Patton*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5252 at *17-*21 (D.N.M. January 3, 2012). Noting that "equitable estoppel" had to mean the same thing in the arbitration context as other contexts, the *Hobbs* Court applied New Mexico law regarding equitable estoppel as it applies in the contract setting. *Id.* at *29 (quoting *Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U.S. 483, 492 n.9 (1987) ("A court may not, then, in assessing the rights of litigants to enforce an arbitration agreement, construe that agreement in a manner different from that in which it otherwise construes nonarbitration agreements under state law."). After expressly noting that state law provided the appropriate rules of decision, the *Hobbs* court quoted and used New Mexico's 3-part version of equitable estoppel. *Id.* at *30 ("(1) the party to be estopped made a misleading representation by conduct; (2) the party claiming estoppel had an honest and reasonable belief based on that conduct that the party to be estopped would not assert a certain right under the contract or a defense thereto; and (3) the party claiming estoppel acted in reliance on the conduct to its determent or prejudice.")

This version of equitable estoppel is substantially similar to that used in Idaho, which was the version cited by counter-defendants at the district court. Boling has not provided any authority tending to demonstrate that Idaho law has ever adopted or applied the version of equitable estopple upon which he asks this Court to decide this case. And, because it is improper to construe an arbitration agreement differently than a non-arbitration agreement, (*see Perry*, 482 U.S. at 492 n. 9), counter-defendants respectfully request that the version of equitable estoppel applicable to contracts in general be applied in this case.

Boling cannot establish, under Idaho's version of equitable estoppel, that the arbitration clause (or any other provision of the contract) can be enforced against the non-signatory counter-defendants. In order to enforce a contract on the grounds of equitable estoppel, the party claiming estoppel generally must show

[1] a false representation or concealment of a material fact be made with actual or constructive knowledge of the true state of facts; [2] that the party to whom the false representation was made was without knowledge or the means of acquiring knowledge of the real facts; [3] that the false representation was made with the intent that it be acted upon; and [4] that the party to whom it was made relied on and acted upon it to his prejudice.

Idaho Title Co. v. American States Ins. Co., 96 Idaho 465, 468, 531 P.2d 227, 230 (1975) (quoting Bjornstad v. Perry, 92 Idaho 402, 405, 443 P.2d 999, 1002 (1968)) (brackets added). "All of the above factors are of equal importance and there can be no estoppel absent any of the elements." Id. (citing Sullivan v. Mabey, 45 Idaho 595, 264 P. 233 (1928) and Alder v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 92 Idaho 506, 446 P.2d 628 (1968)). Boling has failed to present a cogent argument applying Idaho law of equitable estoppel to the facts that he claims entitle him to enforce the arbitration provision against the non-signatory counter defendants. Rather, Boling relies on his allegations of the "incestuous operation of the individual corporate officers and their web of interlocking business entities under the umbrella of the 'Clearwater' name" (App. Br. At 34) and an "inextricably intertwined" version of estoppel that developed under the federal substantive law of arbitration (App. Br. At 29 and 38)—a body of law that has been rejected by the Supreme Court of the United States.

At the district court, counter-defendants argued that Boling could not satisfy the requirements of Idaho's equitable estoppel law. The district court agreed. On this appeal, Boling makes no effort to satisfy the requirements of Idaho's equitable estoppel law but, instead—and in the face of very clear, contrary authority from the Supreme Court of the United States, which authority has been recognized by several federal courts in overruling and/or abrogating prior decisions that follow a body of arbitration specific contract law—Boling argues only that ordinary principals of contract law do not apply and that special rules applicable only in arbitration should be considered. App. Br. at 38. Boling's argument and legal authority miss the mark and Boling has not provided to this Court any bases upon which it should reverse the district court's decision.

4. The presumption in favor of arbitration does not apply when determining whether a party has agreed to submit a dispute to arbitration.

Boling appears to acknowledge that, in order to compel the non-signatory counterdefendants into arbitration, he must establish the grounds to do so under ordinary principals of contract or agency law. Because Boling is unable to do so, he asserts that any doubts regarding the scope of an arbitration clause should be resolved in favor of arbitration. App. Br. 25-26. However, the presumption in favor of arbitration applies only to the scope of an arbitration agreement; it does not apply to the determination of whether an agreement can be enforced against a non-signatory. *Waffle House*, 534 U.S. at 293-94 n.9 (citing *Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Bd. of Trustees of Leland Standford Junior Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 478 (1989)).

> The strong public policy in favor of arbitration does not extend to those who are not parties to an arbitration agreement, and a party cannot be compelled to arbitrate a dispute that he has not agreed to resolve by arbitration.

Westera, 129 Cal. App. 4th at 763 (quoting Buckner v. Tamarin, 98 Cal. App. 4th 140, 142 (citing Benasra v. Marciano, 92 Cal. App. 4th 987, 990 (2001)). Boling has failed to establish,

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 20

under ordinary agency or contract principals, that the contract can be enforced against the nonsignatory counter-defendants. Because this is the threshold question of arbitrability, the presumption in favor of arbitration does not apply and this court should not "resolve any doubts" in favor of compelling these non-signatory defendants to arbitration.

B. Boling has waived his right and is otherwise judicially estopped from attempting to compel arbitration.

Even if Boling could have established a right to compel the non-signatory counterdefendants to arbitration, he waived that right by making representations to the district court that judicially estop him from asserting that right. "A waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right. It is a voluntary act and implies election by a party to dispense with something of value or to forego some right or advantage which he might at his option have demanded and insisted upon." Motor Carrier Operations v. IDAHO PUC, 83 Idaho 351, 357, 364 P.2d 167, 171 (1961) (quoting Crouch v. Bischoff, 78 Idaho 364, 304 P.2d 646, 649 (1956)). "Judicial estoppel precludes a party from advantageously taking one position, then subsequently seeking a second position that is incompatible with the first." Hoagland v. Ada County, 2013 Ida. LEXIS 154, *27 (Idaho May 16, 2013) (citing Loomis v. Church, 76 Idaho 87, 94, 277 P.2d 561, 565 (1954)). "The policy behind judicial estoppel is to protect 'the integrity of the judicial system. by protecting the orderly administration of justice and having regard for the dignity of the judicial proceeding." Id. (citing A & J Constr. Co. v. Wood, 141 Idaho 682, 685, 116 P.3d 12, 16 (2005)). "It is intended to prevent parties from playing fast and loose with the legal system." Id. (also citing 31 C.J.S. Estoppel and Waiver §186 (2012)).

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